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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO 

WESTERN DIVISION 

 

CHARLES PFLEGHAAR, 

 

and 

 

KATINA HOLLAND 

 

                  Plaintiffs, 

 

-vs- 

 

CITY OF PERRYSBURG, OHIO, 

 

and 

 

BRODEN WALTERS, in his official capacity as 

Administrator of the City of Perrysburg, Ohio, and 

in his personal capacity 

 

                  Defendants. 
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:  
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: 

Case No.   

 

Judge 

 

Magistrate 

 

 

VERIFIED COMPLAINT 

 

Exhibit A:  Photograph of Disputed Signs 

 

Exhibit B:  Relevant City Ordinances 

 

Exhibit C:  Defendants’ July 2017 

Correspondence Threatening Plaintiffs 

 

Exhibit D:  Email Correspondence Between 

Plaintiffs and Defendants 

 

Exhibit E:  Defendant’ November 2016 

Correspondence Threatening Plaintiffs 

 

 

Now come Plaintiffs, CHARLES PFLEGHAAR and KATINA HOLLAND (collectively, the “Plaintiffs”), 

and for their Complaint against the CITY OF PERRYSURG, OHIO and administrator BRODEN 

WALTERS ("defendants") allege as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. This is an action for declaratory judgment, preliminary and permanent injunction, and 

nominal damages under 42 U.S.C. §1983 arising from Defendants’ unconstitutional official conduct, 

policies, practices, regulations, restrictions, threats, intimidation, and/or harassment. 

2. Specifically, Defendants maintain that they may prohibit Plaintiffs from posting otherwise-

compliant political signs on their own private property except during a 67 day window of time that begins 

60 days prior to the pertinent election and ends seven days thereafter. 
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3. Due to Defendants’ official and individual conduct, Plaintiffs have suffered and will 

continue to suffer irreparable harm to their rights under the First Amendment to the United States 

Constitution and the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.   

4. This harm may only be remedied by a ruling from this Court, and Defendants must be 

immediately and permanently be enjoined from restricting Plaintiffs’ protected speech in this manner.  

PARTIES 

5. Plaintiff Charles (“Chip”) Pfleghaar is a resident of Perrysburg, Ohio and candidate for 

Perrysburg City Council.   

6. Plaintiff Katina Holland is a resident of Perrysburg, Ohio, and as a concerned citizen, a 

supporter of Mr. Pfleghaar’s election to city council.    

7. The City of Perrysburg is a municipal corporation in Wood County organized under the 

Constitution and laws of the State of Ohio.   

8. The City is a state actor and is a municipal corporation unprotected by sovereign immunity 

for the purposes of this action. 

9. Defendant Broden Walters is, and has been at all times relevant to the facts at issue in this 

case, either the “administrator” and/or the “zoning administrator” for the City of Perrysburg.   

10. The actions of Defendant Walters described herein were taken pursuant to official conduct 

on behalf of the City of Perrysburg, and were exercised under color of law.  

11. At all times relevant to the allegations in this Complaint, each and all of the Defendants’ 

acts alleged herein are attributed to Mr. Walters acting under the color, authority, and pretense of 

regulations, customs, usages, and policies of the City. 

12. Mr. Walters has and continues to undertake specific action so as to deprive and/or violate 

the constitutional rights of the Plaintiffs and did so in his individual capacity, as part of his official duties 
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and responsibilities as an employee or agent of the City, and in his official capacity of adopting and 

implementing a policy, practice or custom of the City. 

13. All actions by the Defendants described herein were undertaken under color of state law 

which caused the deprivation of Plaintiffs’ rights protected by the United States Constitution. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

14. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this case pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331, as 

this action arises under the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution; under 28 

U.S.C. § 1343(a)(3), in that it is brought to redress deprivations, under color of state law, of rights, 

privileges, and immunities secured by the United States Constitution; under 28 U.S.C. § 1343(a)(4), in that 

it seeks to recover damages and secure equitable relief under an Act of Congress, specifically, 42 U.S.C. § 

1983, which provides a cause of action for the protection of civil and constitutional rights; under 28 U.S.C. 

§ 2201(a), to secure declaratory relief; under 28 U.S.C. § 2202, to secure preliminary and permanent 

injunctive relief and damages; and under 42 U.S.C. § 1988, to award attorneys fees. 

15. Venue is proper within this judicial district and division pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) 

and Local Rule 3.8, as (i) the Defendants are situated within this judicial district and division; and (ii) all of 

the claims asserted by Plaintiff arose within this judicial district and division. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

Plaintiffs’ Political Speech 

16. Pursuant to his independent candidacy for Perrysburg City Council, Mr. Pfleghaar ordered 

yard signs urging Perrysburg residents to vote for him. 

17. Mr. Pfleghaar has posted several of these signs on his private property at 401 W. Front 

Street in Perrysburg, Ohio.  See Exhibit A. 

18. The signs innocuously indicate “Chip Pfleghaar for Council,” and measure no greater than 

two feet wide by two feet tall.  See Exhibit A. 
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19. If Mr. Pfleghaar is unsuccessful in his election, he intends to retain the signs and use them 

again outside of the City’s window for temporary signs.    

20. Mr. Pfleghaar has many supporters who display or wish to display signs seeking his 

election.   

21. One such supporter, Plaintiff Katina Holland supports Mr. Pfleghaar, but has refrained from 

displaying signs advocating for his election due to the City’s prohibitions. 

Perrysburg’s Prohibition on Political Signs 

22. The City prohibits political signs 298 days of the year through (1) classifying them as 

“temporary;” and (2) prohibiting “temporary signs” on residential property at all times except “up to 60 

days prior and 7 days after the event.”  See Section 1250.33(b) and 1250.33(c).  See Exhibit B. 

23. Further, “[n]o more than two signs may display an identical message.”  Section 1250.33(c).   

24. The City’s code is clear that “All signs not expressly permitted by this Code shall be 

prohibited.”  Section 1250.35.   

Perrysburg’s Enforcement of its Prohibition on Political Signs against Plaintiffs 

25. As a matter of policy, the City characterizes political signs for and against candidates and 

issues as “temporary,” and therefore prohibited other than during a 67 day window of time surrounding the 

election related to the sign.  

26. On or about July 17, 2017, zoning inspector Brodin Walters indicated to Mr. Pfleghaar that 

it was “provid[ing] [him] with the following information to ensure that all political signs are placed 

legally.”  This correspondence indicates that, in a residential area, “signs are permitted to be displayed 60 

days prior to and 7 days after an election/ voting day.”    See Exhibit C. 

27. Mr. Pfleghaar sought to further clarify the City’s policies through a follow-up email to Mr. 

Walters.  In his response, Mr. Walters insisted as follows:  “In order to be in compliance with the current 

code your signs should come down until 60 days prior to the election. This timeline will be different for 
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Mayoral candidates since they have a primary which allows their signs to go up ahead of council 

candidates. We wanted to send out the general letter to inform every candidate since you are not the only 

one that was not aware of the timing requirements for signs. We aren't specifically out targeting political 

signs but obviously we need to address them if we see them. There are basically 2 penalties, 1) if you put 

them in the right-of-way they will be taken and disposed of (so the penalty is losing the sign) and 2) if they 

are maintained on private property in violation of the size or time requirements there is the potential for a 

zoning fine of $100 per day per violation.”  See Exhibit D.   

28.   In a later email exchange, Mr. Walters further clarified the construction of the sign is 

immaterial, since “the real intent of the code as I see it is to allow display of election signs during a time 

that is relevant…”  See Exhibit D. 

29. In response, Mr. Pfleghaar has removed one of his signs, abstained from displaying, and 

(subsequent to the threat) abstained from distributing signs to would-be supporters who would otherwise 

display them.   

30. The speech of Mr. Pfleghaar’s supporters, including Plaintiff Holland, has likewise been 

chilled. 

31. Previously, on or about November 23, 2016, citing Perrysburg Codified Ordinance Section 

1250.33(a), Defendants indicated to Mr. Pfleghaar that that “the presence of a political sign was noticed at 

the address above, for which you are the owner on record.  I must inform you that political signs are not 

permitted to be up longer than a 70 day period.  In particular 7 days after the event, this would have been 

Election Day….I am requesting that the sign be removed as soon as possible….our office will ensure that 

the sign is removed….” 

32. Due to Defendants’ threats, Mr. Pfleghaar removed his sign regarding the presidential 

election, just as he and Ms. Holland have now been forced to sacrifice their rights until they can be 

vindicated in this Court.  See Exhibit E. 
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COUNT I 

DECLARATORY JUDGMENT AND INJUNCTION 

(28 U.S.C. § 2201, et seq.) 

33. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference the allegations in the foregoing paragraphs as if 

set forth fully herein. 

34. An actual controversy has arisen and now exists between Plaintiffs and Defendants 

concerning Plaintiffs’ rights under the United States Constitution.  A judicial declaration is necessary and 

appropriate at this time. 

35. Plaintiffs desire a judicial determination of their rights against Defendants as they pertain to 

Plaintiffs’ right to post political signs on private property outside of the City’s arbitrary window for 

“temporary” signs without being subjected to threats, fines, litigation, prosecution or other harassment or 

intimidation by the City or its agents. 

36. In order to prevent further violation of Plaintiffs’ constitutional rights by Defendants, it is 

appropriate and proper that a declaratory judgment be issued, pursuant to FED. R. CIV. P. 57, declaring 

unconstitutional the Defendants’ policies and practices. 

37. Furthermore, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2202 and FED. R. CIV. P. 65, it is appropriate and 

hereby requested that this Court issue preliminary and permanent injunctions prohibiting the Defendants 

from enforcing their restrictions on Plaintiffs’ expressive activities to the extent they are unconstitutional, 

in order to prevent the ongoing violation of Plaintiffs’ constitutional rights. 

38. Specifically, this Court should preliminarily and permanently enjoin Defendants and their 

officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys, and those persons in active concert or participation 

with them who receive actual notice of the injunction, from engaging in any further official conduct that 

threatens, attempts to threaten, and/or actually interferes with Plaintiffs’ protected political speech, 

including but not limited to the use of political signs advocating for the election of certain candidates to 

City Council or other public offices. 
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COUNT II 

VIOLATION OF RIGHT TO FREE SPEECH UNDER 

THE FIRST AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS 

TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION 

(42 U.S.C. § 1983) 

 

39. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference the allegations in the foregoing paragraphs as if 

set forth fully herein.  

40. The City’s threats have chilled and threaten to further silence Plaintiffs’ protected political 

speech, including their use of otherwise-compliant yard signs advocating for the election of Mr. Pfleghaar 

to City Council.  

Plaintiffs’ political speech is protected. 

41. The First Amendment to the United States Constitution and Section 11, Article I of the 

Ohio Constitution protect Plaintiffs’ political speech, including their right to use the satirical SHTU logo. 

42.   Plaintiffs’ political speech seeking to change and reform Perrysburg City Council is at the 

core of our electoral process and of the First Amendment freedoms – an area of public policy where 

protection of robust discussion is at its zenith.  

43. Political “[s]peech is an essential mechanism of democracy, for it is the means to hold 

officials accountable to the people.” Citizens United v. FEC, 130 S.Ct. 876, at 898 (2010), citing Buckley v. 

Valeo, 96 S.Ct. 612 (“In a republic where the people are sovereign, the ability of the citizenry to make 

informed choices among candidates for office is essential.”). 

44. The First Amendment affords the broadest protection to such political expression in order 

“to assure (the) unfettered interchange of ideas for the bringing about of political and social changes 

desired by the people.”  Roth v. United States, 354 U.S. 476, at 484 (1957).  

45. “[T]here is practically universal agreement that a major purpose of that Amendment was to 

protect the free discussion of governmental affairs. . . ” Mills v. Alabama, 384 U.S. 214, at 218 (1966). 
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Defendants’ demand that Plaintiffs cease and desist engaging in protected political speech 

transgressed the First Amendment 

 

46. A municipality is liable under § 1983 if it took “action pursuant to official municipal policy 

of some nature [that] caused a constitutional tort.”  Monell v. Dep't of Soc. Servs., 98 S. Ct. 2018 (1978). 

47.  “Municipal liability may be imposed for a single decision by municipal policy makers 

under appropriate circumstances.”  Id. 

48. Federal Court precedent supports the viability of protecting First Amendment freedoms 

through a facial challenge to an unwritten policy.    

49. Threatened deprivation of constitutional rights that chills speech is a First Amendment 

harm. United Food & Commercial Workers Local 1099 v. City of Sidney, 364 F.3d 738 (6th Cir. 2004). 

50. Restricting spontaneous political expression places a severe burden on political speech 

because, as the Supreme Court has observed, “timing is of the essence in politics ... and when an event 

occurs, it is often necessary to have one’s voice heard promptly, if it is to be considered at all.”  

Shuttlesworth v. City of Birmingham, 394 U.S. 147, at 163 (1969) (Harlan, J., concurring). 

51. A state actor cannot constitutionally condition the receipt of a benefit, such as a liquor 

license or an entertainment permit, on an agreement to refrain from exercising one’s constitutional rights, 

especially one’s right to free expression. 

52. Defendants’ policy of characterizing election-related political signs as “temporary,” so as to 

trigger strict durational limits on when political speech through yard signs may take place, violates the First 

Amendment on its face. 

53. The Defendants’ threats of $100 per-day fines, and offer to abstain from such fines only if 

Plaintiffs’ sacrifice their clear First Amendment right to political speech, is an actionable cause for redress.  

54. Time if of the essence, as Plaintiffs are pressed to convey their message ahead of the 

November 2017 election.  Accordingly, each day’s chilling of speech is magnified. 
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55. The City’s restrictions on the duration of political signage is particularly arbitrary in the 

modern era of expanded voting:  for the November 7, 2017 general election, Military and Overseas 

Absentee Voting begins September 23, 2017 and Early In-Person Voting and Absentee Voting begin on 

October 11, 2017.  See Ohio Secretary of State “Voting Schedule.”1   

56. In the absence of this Court’s relief, Plaintiffs are prohibited by Defendants from displaying 

political signs advocating for Mr. Pfleghaar’s election, much less most or all other political signs related to 

candidates until on or about September 7, 2017, and prohibited from displaying any political signs related 

to candidates after November 14, 2017.   

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for judgment against Defendants, and that this Court: 

(1) Declare that Perrysburg Codified Ordinance Section 1250.33(a) is unconstitutional on its face, 

unconstitutional as applied by Defendants, and unconstitutional as applied to Plaintiffs, insofar as it 

prohibits political signs supporting the election of candidates other than during a 67 day window 

surrounding the election relevant to the candidate.  

(2) Declare that any other policy, pattern, practice, act, or conduct by Defendants separate and apart 

from or pursuant Section 1250.33(a) which prohibits political signs supporting the election of candidates 

other than during a 67 day window surrounding the election relevant to the candidate is unconstitutional on 

its face, unconstitutional as applied to Plaintiffs, and unconstitutional as applied by Defendants. 

(3) Issue a preliminary and permanent injunction prohibiting Defendants from enforcing Section 

1250.33(a) so as to prohibit the posting of otherwise-legally-compliant political signs supporting candidates 

on private property.   

(4) Assess against Defendants and award to Plaintiffs nominal damages as compensation for the 

deprivation of their clearly-protected constitutional rights. 

                                                           
1
    A color-coded schedule is available online at https://www.sos.state.oh.us/elections/voters/voting-schedule/#gref. 
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(5) Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1988 and other applicable law, award Plaintiffs their costs, damages, 

and expenses incurred in bringing this action, including their reasonable attorneys’ fees; and 

(6) Grant such other and further relief as the Court deems equitable, just, and proper. 

Respectfully submitted, 

/s/ Maurice A. Thompson 

Maurice A. Thompson (0078548) 

1851 Center for Constitutional Law 

122 E. Main Street 

Columbus, Ohio 43215 

Tel: (614) 340-9817 

MThompson@OhioConstitution.org 

 

 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

I hereby certify that a copy of the foregoing motion and memorandum in support, as well 

as the verified complaint filed in this action has been served upon the following, via e-mail, on 

the date of filing: 

 

Karlene Henderson, Esq. 

Law Director 

City of Perrysburg 

201 W. Indiana Ave. 

Perrysburg, OH 43551 

KHenderson@CI.Perrysburg.oh.us 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

/s/ Maurice A. Thompson 

Maurice A. Thompson (0078548) 
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VERIFICATION 

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, I, Charles Pfleghaar, declare the following: 

1.  I have reviewed the Complaint in this case. 

2. I have personal knowledge of the matters alleged in the Complaint. 

3. The allegations contained herein are true and accurate. 

 I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. 

Executed this 15th day of August, 2017 

   

 /s/ Charles Pfleghaar   

Charles Pfleghaar 

Plaintiff 
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